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HIA REF: 37

Witness Name: HIA 37

THE INQUIRY INTO HISTORICAL INSTITUTIONAL ABUSE 1922 TO 1995

WITNESS STATEMENT OF HIA 37

I, HIA 37 will say as follows:-

Personal details

1. | was born on _in- England.

2. 1 am the eldest of ten children but two died in childhood. My younger siblings

arecao NS N I N N - [

-drowned when he was 26.

3. | was placed in Nazareth House Belfast in 1956 when | was seven and a half
years old with my younger sisterwho was five. My brother Mgy Was
placed in Nazareth Lodge. He was six and a half. | vividly remember the day |
went in. My dad had taken us on the train from -and | remember him
being very distressed and crying. | was confused and curious as to why he
was so upset because he told us we were going on holidays. He had bought
us new dresses with petticoats and | remember being annoyed | was dressed

the same as my sister.

4. My mother had been out of the home a few months at that stage and | took on
the role of mother figure to my younger siblings. 1 remember dropping the
younger ones off to school and then coming home to help my father round the
house. | rarely went to school myself. | used to cook things like scrambled

eggs and pancakes. We had a good home life before we went into Nazareth
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House. | distinctly remember a woman from the Welfare and a priest being at
our house that day:. Looking back, | think they had a big influence on the
decision to put us in Nazareth House. My father wasn’t coping. The youngest
I =5 only three months old and | was seven and a half,

Nazareth House, Belfast (I R

5. When we went into Nazareth House, | remember the nun taking our

particulars and my dad got my birthday wrong. He said it was 12" December
and it was recorded as that until [ had to get my birth certificate when | was
sitting my O Levels. That first day NaElgand 1 went in, all the other children

crowded around us in the playground. | felt utterly confused and

overwhelmed. That night it really sank En.was crying a lot so the nuns
pushed our two beds together. After a night or two though one of the nuns
came along and smackedand said that was enough. We were put into
the big dormitory then and they separated us. The nuns put NEEREBin the
farthest corner of the dormitory. | was in the first row and she was in the fourth
row; we couldn’t have been further apart. NiggBwas hit by the nuns for crying

for me and | used to sneak up to her and tell her stories to reassure her.

6. Nazareth House was a bleak, dark place. | suffered physical and mental
abuse on a daily basis during the nine years | was kept there. This amounted
to thousands of incidents. | remember | used to just lie in bed and think this is
a nightmare. | thought that someday my daddy is going to come and take us
out. | wrote letters to him, | always remembered our home address. | gave
them to the nuns but obviously they were never sent. | later received letters
from my father but they were always open when | got them. He used to say he
was going to get a house in -and take us all out of the home. 1 believed
this until | was about fourteen. We had to give our replies to the nuns to read
hefore sending. This ensured we were not reteliing any of the abuse we were

suffering.

7. It was tough knowing you had family and wondering where they were, you

were never told. | had been taken away from a stable family home which was
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all | had ever known. | had no contact with my mummy and daddy and that
was tough. My brother NEwas only five minutes down the road in Nazareth
Lodge but | only saw him once or twice a year when all the children would go
down for a supervised visit. This was organised for all the children whether
they had brothers in the Lodge or not. It was like a day out. Niklgand | got to
spend time with during these visits but that was just a coincidence; the
nuns made no effort to encourage contact between us. We only went on these
day trips five or six times in the five years ML was in the Lodge. This had a
severe psychological effect on me bhecause we had been very close as
siblings before going into care. [Jlaewas all alone and [ggcE@and | were so

close by.

8. My mother only ever visited us once. She took us down to the Lodge to visit
as well. Apparently, was going to be fostered but my mother
refused to let this happen.

9. There were three groups in Nazareth House. | was in St. Anne’s group which
was in charge of. was in the same group. The daily
routine in Nazareth House was you got up really early in the morning and
knelt by your bed to say your prayers. It was probably about 5.30am or
6.30am. Then you got yourself dressed and went to Mass. Religion was a big
part of life in the home. A few of the younger ones would faint at Mass
because they were so tired and hungry. If you fell asleep or dozed off in Mass
the nuns would physically assault you by flicking their fingers at the back of

your head and ears or striking you with their knuckles. JESIRSNECZEN in
particular did this.

10.No matter what age you were you had chores to do in the morning. One of my
chores was to clean the bathroom. | was in charge of the upstairs bathroom
and it had thirty sinks, four toilets and four baths. | had to make sure these
were all clean. Then | went down for breakfast and went to school. | also had
the task of taking a wooden box containing soiled sanitary towels down to the

furnace and burning them all once a week on a Tuesday. | was only thirteen
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years old at the time. The nuns used to say it was a privilege but if it was why

didn't they do it themselves? The other girls and | were treated like slaves.

11.Every Friday night, we had to scrub the long coﬁidors after school. The floors
were made of stone and we worked in pairs on our hands and knees with a
scrubbing brush and soap. We used to chant “left, right, Peggy’'s right”. We
wore a pinafore over our clothes and our pinafore, shoes and socks would be
saturated. Our hands would be red and raw. On a Saturday we had to do the
same to the floors in the chapel. We had to shine them until you could see
your face in the floor. | never once saw the nuns do any physical work, it was
always the chiidren.

12.We had to work in the laundry sometimes as well. I’i was hard, severe work for
a child but | didn’t really mind because it broke the monotony. The standard
the nuns expected of us children was exceptional. A nun would always be
standing over you watching you and if you didn’t do your chores to their
standards, you had to do them again. This very much depended on the mood
of the nuns on a particular day. They used to go out collecting on a Saturday
and if they had a bad day they would take it out on us when they got back.
They used to tell us they would be spat on and verbally abused while out

collecting for us.

13.The food in Nazareth House wasn't great but food wasn't top of my list. It
didn’t bother me to be hungry. | remember going to bed hungry. In the
morning we would get porridge and sometimes it would have big lumps in it
and you wouldn’t want to eat it but you had to eat what was on your plate. A
nun and a couple of the older girls did the cooking. Mealtimes were in silence
and the supervising nun would single out me and other girls who were
whispering. We would have been taken to the front of the dining room and

slapped with a cane, ruler, spoon or strap.

14.0n one occasion before we were due to go on holiday to Glenariff, we had
mutton stew but the mutton was gone off. The smell was horrendous but the

nuns made us eat it. All the girls were vomiting including me but the nuns kept
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saying if everybody didn’t eat it, nobody would get to go on holidays, We were
literally eating our own vomit; even children as young as five. The stew was
eaten in the end but it seemed to go on for hours and hours. If you didn’t eat
your stew, somebody ate it for you because we all wanted to go on holidays.
We went on holiday once a year either to Glenariff or Ballyhornan. Christmas
in the home was nothing special. | remember we got a tin of Gibbs toothpaste,

an apple and an orange.

15.We got bathed once or twice a week and the nuns made us all strip to the
waist and it was embarrassing when you were starting to develop physically.
We were all bathed in Jeyes fluid and it was so strong smelling. It stung your
skin and itched like mad. When you got up out of the hath you would have a
brown ring around your waist from the Jeyes fluid. It clearly said on the tin not
to be used on skin. All the girls from the home were brunettes and | used to
think it was from the Jeyes fluid because they washed our hair in it as well.
The water was never changed or topped up so if you were last in it would be
freezing cold. Even if you had your period you still had to get in the same bath

and a girl would have to get in after you. .

16. At bath time, our underwear would be examined by a nun. You had to line up
and show the crotch of your underwear calling out your number. | was number
10 and my sister NEERE was number 9. This was humiliating especially if it

was around puberty.

17.When you took your period, you had to go upstairs and ask [JERSIaSE¥ S for
a sanitary towel. You had to wait for a quiet, convenient time to ask and she
would count how many you used. She would note when she last gave you
one and refuse if it had been that morning even if you needed one. | was often
sore, chaffed and raw but | was too afraid to ask for more sanitary towels. You
never had any privacy in the home. Even when we changed clothes, it was all
in one room and ould stand on a bench watching us
changing in and out of our uniforms. We were all aged between eleven and a

half and fifteen years of age.
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18. A doctor came to the home once a week or once a fortnight. | think his name
was - He would examine all the new children who had come in. He was
a privately contracted doctor which | don’t understand because the NHS was
well established then. The nuns were always complaining about money so
why would they hire a private doctor? 1 think it was to keep things hidden. A
lot of the new children would have head lice. We used to sit like monkeys
doing each other’s hair, combing through with the nit comb. | used to like that;
it broke the monotony and gave us something to do. The nuns never exposed
themselves to risk in any way. The doctor examined me a couple of times

because | was prone to chest infections and | had a bad flu or bronchitis once.

19.1 remember one nun was nice to me when | was sick. It was SR 116

and it was just after she arrived in the home. She brought me gruel with sugar
in it and would check on me. She used to put Vicks on me and | remember
thinking she was trying to touch me up but she wasn’t. She was a nice nun to
begin with but she soon changed. She was only a novice when she first came
in and she took her final vows in the home. She was clearly influenced by the
other nuns and became cruel like them. It's true that one bad apple can ruin

the barrel.

20.1 remember once there was an epidemic of measles or something but I must
have been a carrier because | never contracted it. [ had to take the trays of
food up to a lot of the girls. The nuns never took them up. | was exposed to
infection rather than them. had the measles once and | remember
taking her food up. Another girl called _was put in an isolation
room because she had jaundice and 1 had to bring her food and medicine up

to her. The nuns kept themseives well guarded.

21.The nuns never showed any compassion or nurturing. When a child is sick, all
they want is a hug but we never got any affection from the nuns. They even

~ discouraged affection between families. | would have been quite affectionate

toNEERB but we learned quite early on not to show that in public especially if

the nuns were around. If she had fallen | wouldn’t have been able to give her

a hug, I'd have to tell her not to make a fuss.
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22.There was a lack of love and nurturing in the home. | tried to take on the
nurturing role for my sister. | was used to having a lot of responsibility at home
from a young age, there were always babies around. | got a ot of
punishments in Nazareth House for sticking up for NEERE | was always
questioning things in general but eventually | learned to keep my mouth shut.
When it came to the nuns hitting though, | would always tell them to

leave her alone.

23.0ne punishment was | had to take my mattress down to the bottom floor and
sleep there for the night. That was absolutely terrifying. 1 was still in primary
school at this stage. | was forced to do this on a number of occasions. It was
really dark and there was a man who looked after the furnace who was often
drunk. The children spread lots of rumours about him and | remember lying on
the mattress and hearing him come down. | was petrified thinking what he
was going to do to me. He was probably harmless but | remember he came
over to me and | could smell the drink on his breath. He didn’t do anything to

me but | was still terrified.

24.0Other punishments in the home were being forced to kneel with our hands on
our heads for hours. We would be told to kneel to be caned as this gave extra
force to the strikes. The nuns would use both hands for extra strength and |
cane us until they were exhausted. Our hands would be red, raw, swollen and
painful for days and we held them under our arms to try to reduce the pain.
We would be punished for looking at our reflection when passing a glass

window; we would be accused of vanity.

25 I NECIN sed bamboo canes on us. They were split from being used
and were sellotaped together. She also used the side of a wooden ruler to hit
me on the wrists, forearms and hands. wouid use a large metal
spoon. | and other girls were made to clench our fist and she hit our knuckles
with the spoon. [ SR 134 NIENEN grip my forearm and forcefully hit me with
my own hands whilst saying “there, you can't say | hit you, you're hitting

yourself”,
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26.] suffered from lack of sleep as there was an alert machine for bed wetting
placed beside my bed. | had to waken children in the middle of the night; take
off the wet bottom sheet and put a top sheet over thick reddish brown rubber
sheets. This would have happened with several children throughout the night.

-1 still suffer from insomnia because of this. Girls often wet the bed and were
humiliated in front of us. They were forced to rinse the sheets and nightwear
in freezing cold water before bﬁnging them to the laundry room. If we were on
holidays in Glenariff during the summer, girls had to lay the sheets over the

hedges and stand beside them until they were dry.

27.For several nights | had no sleep as | was told to stay in one of the
classrooms in Nazareth House alone to darn another girl's socks. They were
so smelly and hard from being worn that | couldn’t darn them. | kept retching
and gagging .when trying to darn them. At 5am, | would hear the terrifying
sound of the nuns’ shuffing footsteps and the rattling of rosary beads as they
went for their morning prayer. came and checked if |
had darned the socks and then | was sent for Mass and daily chores. As
punishment for not mending the socks, | was not allowed any socks all winter,
| was given a pair of shoes that were two or three sizes too big with holes in
the soles. | had to keep putting paper in them to try to make them fit and keep
dry.

28.1 remember once they gotAa dog and was petrified of dogs. The nuns
sussed this and said that she would have to feed the dog. tried to go
out and feed it but she was terrified and couldn’t do it. | knew she was going
to get slapped so | told the nuns to leave her alone; that she was afraid of

dogs. Another time, NEERBwas late getting into her line before dinner and
SIRQRCYIN -l lcd her over. | shouted at her to leave her alone and |l

SEEEE said “oh we dont hit the FIENEH - [N sh< o2ve me that

nickname then and it stuck but | quite fiked it.

29.1t was almost as painful listening to the screams and cries of the other girls

getting beaten as it was being hit yourself. On one occasion, a nun flogged
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three or four girls on the stage in the big recreation room. [ can’t remember
who it was; it might have been or who was there
before [ JIREEI! don't know what the girls had done but the nun made
them take their pants down and bend over the stage. Then she went at them
and whipped them with a cane over and over. They did this in front of

everybody else and listening to the screams of the girls was terrible.

30.1 remember the same nun did this over a long wooden bench in the bathroom.
She made the girls bend over, take down their pants and then caned them
with a stick. On another occasion we were forced to watch a girl called
being forced to kneel when being caned when she was about
thirteen. We counted each slap and | remember stopping at 100 because it

was so distressing.

31.You were known by a number in the home. | was number 10 and my sister
was number 9. Sometimes you were called by your surname but never
by your Christian name. You couldn’t do right in the home. If you didn't look at
the nuns when they spoke to you théy would say ‘look me in the eye when I'm
speaking to you’ but if you did look them in the eye they called you defiant and
said the devil was in you. There was a wall with glass and barbed wire all
around the home. | used to think it was to keep people out but now | think it

was to keep us in.

32,was s0 sarcastic. She was always saying ‘we never asked you
to come in here'. | was always getting siapped for saying ‘is it alright if | go
then'. | said that naively but after being whacked half a dozen times 1 realised
| wasn't saying the right thing. | used to get one hell of a hiding for answering
back. She used to pick on certain families as well and say ‘you know we don’t

get any money for you, we are keeping you for nothing’. She would say that
about us [gUaReTl and it really stuck with me.

33. JERSIaNCN A \ould tell me not to get on my high horse because she was
keeping me for free. She always said it out publically in front of other children

and it was so humiliating. | believe | was treated worse than others in the
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home who had family contact or who the nuns received financial contribution
for. It made you angry towards your parents as well; never mind the fact they

dumped you here for a holiday and left you there nine years.

34.1 went to primary school onsite in Nazareth House and | enjoyed it. When |
first went into the home, | was illiterate and | could only sign my name but |
soon caught up. | read a lot and studied hard. To me, reading and learning
was an escape. We were easily identified in school as the girls from the home
as we had to wear shirts that were made by the older girls in Nazareth House.
These were handmade from poor quality material that was discoloured so it
looked yellow rather than white with misshapen collars. This was humiliating
as were subjected io nasty, hurtful comments and made to feel different from

our peers.

35.We were only given clean socks twice a week so we used to hand wash our
socks and skirts at night and leave them under the mattress to dry. We often
went to school with wet socks. | loved drama as well. We used to put on plays
for the Mother Superior and | got a lot of the main parts. it was a form of

escapism for me to get on the stage.

36.1 went to secondary school in St. Monica’s and | remember my first day
walking there 1 met a woman and she asked me where | was going. | told her
it was my first day at school and | was going to work really hard and make
something of myself. When | arrived at school, | realised the woman was my
form teacher_ | was mortified._made me sub prefect
then which was unusual because normally we voted for our prefect and sub
prefect. | wasn't very good at disciplining the other students though because
they ail knew | was from the home so they didn't listen to me. | was the only
one from the home in the class because | had moved up to the A stream. -

which was the top class.

37.1 did guite well from a young age and | was awarded a scholarship to a

grammar school called || | | < nuns never told me |

was going to a different school because | had done well. They just said one
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day | was going to get fitted for a uniform because | was changing schools. |
didn't want to move schools as | had made friends in St. Monica’s. | had been
very happy there and was achieving well. [ had been a Prefect and could have

done my O Levels there.

38.1t was a really long bus ride to_and when | got back to Nazareth
House in the evening | was really hungry as | hadn’t eaten since 1pm. | was
told it was too late for food as the top kitchen was closed. Another girl from
the home got a scholarship as well. Her name was-and she was older
than me and a lot more streetwise. She wanted to leave school and the home
and get a job. One day she said we were not going back to _and
we mitched school for a few days. | was very much influenced by [ Eull
didn’t want to go to _ without her; | hated the thought of travelling
form Belfast to _ on my own. When we went back to the home we
were told we had to go to the store room. You knew you were in trouble when

you were told to go there.

39. SR 31 was waiting in the store room for us. She couldn’t

stand me anyway and she always made life difficult for me. -went in to
the store room first and when she came out she just winked at me and | felt
relieved. was very fond of-because she was in her group.
As soon as | went in, told me to put out my hand. | was fourteen
at this stage and | said no because | knew [Jjhadn’t been chastised.

40. BESIRECYIIN vwont hell for leather then with a bamboo cane. | can still
remember the sound of it swishing through the air. She went absolutely
mental; she had lost the plot. She was hitting me everywhere, on the back of
my head, my arms, everywhere. | had welts all over. | ran for the door but she
had locked it. | got a shock then; | realised she had calculated what she was
going to do to me. She had locked that door so noboedy could get in and |

couldn’t get out.

41.1 really thought she was going to kill me so | knocked her over and she fell

over a sewing machine. | saw a window pole then which | grabbed. While she
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was on the ground, | put my foot on her chest and | had the pole in my hand. |
said to her “give me the keys because you know you're going to kill me”. She
couldn’t get up, she was trapped by the sewing machine and | think she was
in shock as well. She gave me the key and | locked her in and threw the key

out of the window. | don’t know how she ended up getting out.

42.1 borrowed money from my friend [l to get the bus to - She was a
resident who worked in the parlour and her mother lived in the Good
Shepherd across the road. -always had money. | had an aunt and uncle
there who | traced when | was fourteen. We used to go out and spend the odd
weekend with them and we loved it. It was nice to feel like you belonged
somewhere. My aunt thought | was just up for a visit but when | took my
cardigan off she saw all the dried blood and seeping welts on my skin and she

went ballistic.

43.My uncle -was my dad’s brother and he was working in the _

but my aunt sent for him and said “look what they've done to this child".!
was a quiet, unassuming man who didn’t like any fuss but she made him bring
me to the police station in- R very upset. They had a big family
of their own and they didn't have much money so they couldn’t take us out
permanently. My dad never forgave his family, especially his parents for not

taking us out of the home.

44 \When | went to the police station, | was put in a room on my own. | remember
one policeman came in and said | could have caused the injuries myself. |
asked him how | could get round to my back and he said | could have done it
against a door. | was trying to convince him that it really happened. |
remember another policeman with sandy hair coming in and asking me what
had happened. When | told him it was a nun, he said he couldn’t believe that

and there were tears in his eyes.

45.1 was examined by a doctor called [NalsHEMand he told me he had three
daughters at_ and they were paying fees. He said it was a very
good school and | should make the most of my opportunity there. | felt very let
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down by the police and the doctor for making me go back to Nazareth House
after this incident.and the Mother Superior came and picked
me up in a taxi from - | later found out from-that had
told him that hé had enough on his plate already with his own family. | feit very
hurt and betrayedA by this. [ later told me that there was a meeting about
and she was disciplined for her behaviour, Apparently she was

not allowed to be promoted but I'm not sure if that's true.

46.1 found out where was living in 1999 and | wrote to her
challenging her about the beating she gave me. Her replies were so
patronising; she just said what a great girl | was and that she only ‘corrected’
me hecause she thought grammar school was a great opportunity for me. She
said the reason she didn’t punish [JJliwas because she was still under the
care of her parents and that's why we got different treatment. The nuns had to
be careful with children like |JJllbecause their parents still came in to visit
them. To this day, | hate | JJ SR for making me feel this way. | think

she is the most evil person | have ever come across in my life.

47.1 don't recall anyhody from Welfare ever coming to inspect the home. My only
recollection is of benefactors coming to visit. That was a humiliating
experience. We would all be sitting Watching television like clones and the
nuns made sure we were all clean and dressed nicely. The nun would then
tell us all to stand up and we would have to stand for these people and their
children. We were told to stand and greet them by name and smile at them.
We had to remain standing untii they left. They just looked at us like we were
in a cattle mart. | resented having to stand for those children just because

their parents gave money to the home.

48.| remember the summer after the beating, [JJFEIJEIsaid to me | had nine
weeks to kill and | could paint all the beds. This was a punishment for not
going to school. [l was still in the home and she received no punishment.
We had a maintenance man named [ NEEEZ o did all the odd
jobs. He was a great character. | helped him paint all that summer. | had to
paint all the big pipes and radiators and nearly one hundred beds but | loved
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it, it was great.was a great singer and'[ loved his company. He
used to tell me to be careful [ didn't see | was enjoying the
painting because it was supposed to be a punishment. | had to look sullen
whenever she came around or she would have stopped me doing it if she
thought [ liked it.

49.1 didn't go back to ||l atter the incident with [JEIRECEEvhen |
was fifteen, | did my O-Levels in St. Monica’s. | did six O-Leveis and got an ‘A’
in Religious Education, a ‘B’ in English Literature, a ‘B’ in history and a 'C’ in
Biology. My two best subjects were'Eninsh Language and Art but | failed both
of them. After that, | was sent to work in different parts of Nazareth House. 1
worked in the old people’s home and the nursery. | loved the nursery but you
couldn’t show you liked it or they would have moved you. After | had left
school, St. Monica’s asked me to go down and take some classes when a
teacher was out sick. The nuns weren’'t happy about this. | was offered the
chance to go to England to do my A-Levels and possibly train to be a teacher

“but | tumed it down because | had a younger sister in the home and by this

timewas out of the Lodge and living in -

50.1 left Nazareth House on 24™ October 1965 when | was almost sixteen. Out of
the blue, a girl came up to me and said | was leaving and she had to take me
on the bus. It was really dark and she had a little case for me. | had a job at
the time in the ||| GG S < brought me to this
house on the Antrim Road and there were two nuns running it. There were all
old women staying there. There was one 25 year old but the next youngest
was 56. To me they seemed ancient so | said | wasn’t going to live with old
women. | went and got digs with a woman named ||| o was my
sponsor at confirmation. She was brought up in the home so she took a few of

us in as lodgers.

Life after care

51. My brother NEEBhad gotten a job in a | NI 2rd 2 family called the
-took him under their wing. They could see he was a hard worker
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and he had potential. The mother -was very fond of him and she helped
us to get a house hecause we were under 18 at the time. We bought the

house and she acted as guarantor for us because we were so young. The
I < c2me like foster parents to us and | named my son [[efter Mr

Iy children still call [ Nanny'.

52.was about fourteen at this stage and | used to go down to Nazareth
House on a Friday and take her out for the weekend which she loved. Then

' started saying | could only collect her on a Saturday, then on a
Sunday and then once a fortnight. gave me a really hard time about

that, she didn’t blame the nuns; she blamed me.

53.When nd | were living in Lisburn we got a Eetter from our mother out of
the blue. She said we were of working age now and maybe we should go over
to herin England.and | had a huge row about it. | was still writing to my
dad but NElEhad no sympathy for him. He put our mother on a pedestal. We
talked ahout it and made a deal that if I burned all the letters from my father
we would burn the letter from our mum. | didn’t write to my dad after that and

we didn't write back to our muim.

54 When NEERBwas old enough to get out, | got her employment and went to
collect her from the home.was very hostile and tried
to intimidate to stay. She told us we owed them as they never received
any money for us and thatshould stay and work at the home to pay
them back. NElE was still very influenced and afraid of the nuns and | had to
be really brave and assertive telling not to look at [EESIRGCHEE to

look at me and asking her did she want to come with me or stay at the home.

55.1 told [ERSIRGCH Mt | would pay them back by sending money every week
as | was still naive enough to believe | did owe them money but there was no
way | was leaving NEEREBwith them. She sent for the Mother Supetior then,
and they drew up a disclaimer for me to sign saying | was
taking full responsibility for It was very formal and once | had read it
LRI < -id “what do you think of that Miss” but | just told her to give

HIA 37 PRIVATE 15
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me a pen and | signed it. hlkalgcame and lived with NEEERand me then in

56.Later on when and | were all married, we traced our brothers
who had been fostered in [l and met up with them. NiERBwas always
afraid to go back up to Nazareth House by herself. Even when she was
getting married in 1972 and she needed her baptismai Iinés, eight of us had to
go up with her - we brought several welt built male friends. She kept saying
they might keep her in like the last time and | would have to be there in case |
had to sign another form. This was when she was in her 20’'s but she was just

terrified. It may sound humorous but it was a genuine fear at the time.

57.The nuns didn’t prepare you for life on the outside at all. We knew nothing
about paying bills or getting on buses or buying food. | used to go to the local

shop and ask for five pounds of cheese because | didn’t know any better.

58.1 got married and had three children, two girls and a boy — | [JJlen¢
-My husband and | are no longer together but | have a great relationship
with all my children. | went back to train as a nurse when the two girls were
young and | had a thirty-two year career in nursing. My husband was a
bricklayer and money was always tight in winter so | wanted to do something
to contribute and to give us security as a family. | foved nursing. A lot of the

girls from the home went into the caring profession or cleaning.

59.1 eventually went and met my mother in 2000 with my brother [l but |
didn’t like her at all. She was hard work. She wasn'’t a bad person but | had
only met her five minutes when she asked me for money. She was full of self-
pity. | got in touch with my dad as well and brought him over from England to
B < had a tot of family in [ but he broke all ties with them when
he left for England. He was very bitter towards his family for not having taken

us in.

60.1 bonded with my dad but | did chailenge him about how he left us. He used to
tell funny stories about his life and | said to-him while he was having a good

time, his children were suffering terribly. | brought him to tears but | was glad
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because for years | cried myself to sleep every night and | wanted him to
understand that. He apologised and | eventually got over the initial resentment
and ended up forming a very close reiationship with him. | loved him and we
had some great times together. My father died nine years ago and my mother -

died two months later.

61.1 write poems and stories about my time in the home to help me cope. | inject
a bit of humour into it as that's how | deal with it. An example of one of my

poems is:

“Holy Mary, mother of God,

Sure they didn’t know how to spare the rod.
You couldn’t do right for doing wrong,
Shouldn’t be laughing or singing a song.
Holy Mary, mother of God,

Sometimes | wish | had been born a Prod.
For messengers couldn’t be half as bad,

To ill treat little children and make them so sad”.

62.1 reported the abuse | suffered to police but they told me [EESIRECHN
NISECHM died in Derry in January 2012. They had questioned her but the

criminal case dies with her now.

Statement of Truth

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

pated_ 14lL] " "
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LAKNE AND CAHRICKPF¥REUS DISTRICY

SOCTAL SERVICES DEPARTEEND

This roport is set out under the following heedings:-
(1) Documenting ell incidents at Hazareth Lodge.
(2) eotality of care for Il ohtidren at bome amd in ceve.
(3) Soup Kitchen.
(4) mother's attitude.

REPOR? BB: INcIomES rwvorvive 7Es [ caximeEs.

13th 1977. J1st Incident. [ ! old).

It was alleged that EUNEN, left in tho care of INSEZEMM, S.R.1., had
pulled a pot of tea over her head and fece, T member of staff hed teken
mmmammmmmw-ammmmmecomwp. She
wvas then rushed to the Outpatients® Department of the City Hespital vhare
Dr. Dovey gave his assurence that there would be no scarring. She was not
detained in hospital but atiended daily for treatment., Her face cleared up
remamuyquick]yandﬁhcdoesnotappeartohavemffmdﬁmtﬂamoriema.

(See reports on this incident dated 26th aprdil 1977, end 23rd May 1977).

13th Ney, 197]. 2pd Ivcident. [NIEFICH (NENEEG—) .

fell from the Pire Escape and as a consequence suffered injuriss to
his right arm. He was described to be in an adventurous end high spirited
mood on the evening of the !3th Nay. Wken ho end acme pals were Gwinging and
leaning backward and forvard on the bars NN fell from approximately 10 feet
up. He was rushed immediately to hospital where the doctor diagnosed a
Displeced Upper Humeral Epiphysis and the arm was put in plaster. ext day the
Senior Orthopaedic Surgeon was consulted and was given an anaesthotic in an
attempt to reduce the Displaced Hoad. He attended hospd tal regularly for




SNB-46609

n-reye and drecEings, His arm hao fully recovexed.
(Ses lotter £rom Nemszoth Lodge dated 2324 Hay, 1977).

21lct Bay, 1977, 3ud Iocident. NSV (. .
ISV tolepioned to say thot [NEECH bad fellen off a owiag and

ouffered a lacaration under her chin, She wes tcken imcsdistely to the Gify
Hospital where she bad cight stitches. Sho ouffored no 111 offocts amd no
scarring.

(8ee lotter from Hazaroih Lodze dated 30th Jumo, 1977).

19th Sontember, 1977, 4th Incident. THNCECNIN (NEN—_— .

On the particulnr eveming of this incident INEEMNord two younger cidldren
wore pormitted to go ont to ploy aftar tea which was et 6 p.n., ond were to
rotuer $o the play-room at 6.30 p.m. The field in which they wore playing io
vory closc to the kitchon shere the ataff were clearisg wp tho dishes,

A men epproachsd the children throwing them am applo; they left the play
ceaa to rotricve the applo. ‘Thio parson took the little girls Ly the hapd
apd the boy wendered off. Heo eppavently hed two hypodormie ayringes with him
and showed thom o tho children dut did not try to inject thom in any way.
Baforo INEEMN covid got cuey from him he appevently put hic hond botween her
lags. H¥ENvns very distremsed epd was sick bdut eventvnlly celmod down,
and wicn the polics were called she wzas able {o give them a vexy good
desaription of this pexrson whom the staff recognised to be the mm who bed

becn given a menl earlior that doy, aend hod also beon given a moal three wecks
earlier.

Dr. Xrosavi wves not called wntil nozt day, dut on cxamiration fowmd nothing
wrong wvith theo child, She coems to have suffered no i1l effocts.

(Seo report re incident dated 28th Septembor, 1977).

FOPALIFY OF CARE:

I feecl that the overall care at "Nasmroth' is good although I feel that
vhen incidents bhappen they are sometimes slov to notily our departznat and a

1ittlo wvogue about the procedwe to teks, althoush they have been advised about
this on sovexal oceoasions.

I2o building is cxtremsly extemsive, which smot make the actual running
of the homo vory difficult.

are very widospreed and opea and it would thorefore be
virhmllyinpoasiblobnlmvemholmmmmﬁngtmughthemm

The tennis courts which are beside the play area axe let to a locel R.C. LJ

Church apd its members, thus affording all sorts of poople access to ths
grounds,

THE SOUP KTTCHEN:

i was not awera that a Soup Kitcheon existed until the incident involving

On enquiry I was informed thet a hatch lesding from the kitchen to a8 mt
outside the building is used to serve free meals to the poor. While I :
approciate that thie is a service which tho Sisters feel they should offer to ,
the poor in the community I think that it increases the need for strict g
supervision of the children vhile they are playing outside the building. ;
The last incident in which Sharon was interfered with has emphasised the .
importance of this to the Sisters and has reminded them how quickly an d
incident like this can occur, i
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NORTHERM HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD
LARNE / CARRICKFERGUS DISTRICT - SOCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT
Dlstrict Social Sarvices 0fficer, | com: NN s.s.5..
To: IAWME, 4" O PRI RBITS,,
[Pax_the atfontion of N % Fecaffeay, PS.W I ape:  19th Ogtoter. 1977

@ Re: I Forily,
I casloce a repart on the above family ap requented. I have also attached

coplen of all the previcus lotters and repartn involving these childrem in cage
any of these are micsing from your fileo,

I hope that the roport covers all the necessary poiats. We are all very
coacexnod about those children, especiolly in view of the incidents which bheve
occurrod in Nagareth Lodge. The Sisters have dmp a great deal to help these
childron but thore ere difficulties ir running a home of this eize and some of
the younger staff are wntrainod and meod a lot of supervimion.

Should there bo any further points you wish us to cover plcase let me kmov.
Thank you for your holp with this family.

HORTHERY HEALTH & 80A5D
1AR ucxncxrmsug' gs;'m

§ Y SOCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT
/s 20 0CT 1977

[1. 1T Office

Senigl' Socl &l Yorker
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CASE DISCUSSION RECOED..

Qo o gomploted Yy P.S.Y. xes ymﬁ.ble for ths ciild's caxe

LNV 12.3.1976
uos or cano DUEEE] M ~ GEXE ___m____ _NL 65 B NL 30 [ NLO7 |

msporpres mmn NS B BEEE 2 BaEE N
NAYE OF AOR/pemesixieesiee:  Nasareth Lodge,

ATDRESS 516 Ravankill Read, Belfast.
PARENTS/CUANDLANG MAMB

SCHOOL/BMFTOYNENT

SECTION CF C & Y P ACP P4t Person Oxder

DATE OF .LAS? WEVIEW 13.6.1977 X

RECOMMESDAPIONS OF LaS? kevimy __ 1. Fo chango until nsxt review.

2. Sociel Workex JINWEVPEN to counsel Nother regarding the condition relevant to the
mtout.'wn of the children i.e. wa‘hmca of a mother'a Md and the mtnration of

depend on INWZENN dononstration of her good care of the older childrenm.

msma Vorker to puma tho possibiuty of I boing transforred to
_the Adolescant ﬁn:tt at the Gmd phe

4. !heﬁmo.?amt Nazareth re blo for - to semlanoporton NL 30
accident to Diatx'.i.ct Social 8 coa O0fficer - S5c Main Strent, Larmo,
N [ 4

ACTTON TAKEN

1. Children contirue to vigit Hother for short poriods at weekends but no regtoratio
cavicaged at present.

2. Mother contimues to be difficult and often causes considerable troudle in the Ur

Ske may be moving house but information on this topic is coniusing.

FURTHER EECONNETDED ACTION (Wamss of persoms responsidle for work)
1. Situation to remain as it is.

2. Hother to be emcouraged to think of providing a meal on ocemsions.

3. Some thought to be given to future plans for IMEE] particularly with regard
employment and accommocdation.

DATE OF WBXT REVIEW
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Name:
Date: 7" November 2014

THE INQUIRY INTO HISTORICAL INSTITUTIONAL ABUSE 1922 TO 1995

Witness Statement of

I, SR 29 will say as follows:; -

1. | worked in Nazareth Lodge from I ‘_and was
formerly known as_

2. EINand her sister Blkaag known as MEEER were in my unit. looked after
RILYXike a little mother. Their mother visited me on a regular basis. She spent time
with her children in each unit. J¥%'s Social Worker also visited regularly.

3. There were no restrictions on siblings visiting from other units.s brothers and

sisters were very fond of her and protective over her.

4, With regard to paragraph 4, presents given to the children by Santa were never taken

away.

5. With regard to paragraph 5, | do not recall leaving [Eli¥%Moutside the door without
support or help. Rather, the children would have been brought to school by a

member of staff.

6. With regard to paragraph 6, | have no recollection of [H¥Ebeing force-fed. Some
children would have took longer to finish their meal and would be left at the table until
they had done so. | also would not have cut the hair of any child; cutting hair was not
one of my skills so a member of staff usually did it. Sometimes relatives took children

to the local hairdressers.

7. With regard to paragraph 7, | never put a child across my knee or used a leather
strap. | do not remember Standing on a tin bucket but she may have helped
with the washing up. A lot of the children would help with the dishes and |allaSEst

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE-PERSONAL



- File 234

PERSON INTERVIEWED:

Recording Number and
Recording Times:

5.30

5.45

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE SNB-6 1 168

| SR29

Question asked about slapping for bedwaetting.

SRV :gain states Never continually.

She states that QR was not like a child that you would smack.
Questions asked about being forced fed and the repercdsstons of not eatingithe food given to

them.

SINVAS I s tates the children would have been encouraged to eat because there was not

a tatgs degree of food but never grabbed by their hair or force fed. She states she does not

7.30

8.10

8.50

9.10

remember Bl being physically sick and gagging over her habit. She statés EgIA 1418
mother would of raised such issues if'they had of happened. She stales that physical '
punishment would not have been used on children and that children would nsvef have been
locked in a room. She states that Social Wotkers would have known about such behaviour if
it had of happened.

Questions asked absut Social Workers and‘the degree of contact the chitdrein had with them'
and also if the children were able to see the Social Workers privately. ‘
states Social Workers were available to the chn’dren and cou!d avail of them
privately. She states Social Workers would have attended fortnightly. l

Question asked about record_irtg the atfendance of Social Workers at Nazare:ttl. '
Y i< (o s ihis would have been recorded in the Log Books and ttp;é Social Workets |
would have kept their own notes. ; :

Questions asked about hitting [ilaNsfrequently.
IEEYEN st=tes o she didn’t do such things and also wanted to point gut that there
were too many people and staff around and this would halvé been noted and 'réported.

Question asked about pulling down (LN trousers and underwear and slapping her on the

- bottom.

9.35

~ Form PACE 22
02/08

SN 2 !<s Never, Never and she never saw it beé done.
Question asked about cutﬁngWhair, 7 | |
stétss she can't remember if she cut her hair. She goes onto%state that

’s mother was always in and out of Nazareth and het authorisation wsstd have been

sought on occasions.

Page 2 of 4
RESTRICTED

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 93



OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

ocaiment

Certified a true copy of an original signed d

38736 (2007)

File 234

_ RESTRICTED (when complete) i }

Statement of Witness
Statement of: HIA 141
Age of Witness: Over 18 (i over 18 insert ‘over, 18’}

| declare that this statement consisting of 2 pagels, each signed by me is true to the best of my knowledge and
belief and | make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence at a preliminary enquiry or at the trial of any person, |
* | shall be liable to prosecution if | have wilfully stated in it anything which | know to be false or do not believe to be
true.

Signature of Withess: HIA 141 : Date; 28.2.10 ‘

Service/Staff # if police/staff

Signature witnessed by:
(Appropriate Adult)

Signature of Member:  Paul McConnell Date: 28.2.10:

by whom statement was
recorded or received

ServrceIStaﬂ # if police/staff

I was born on |- d was taken by Social Services from my mother along wnth my other

brothers and sisters. Apparently she couldn’t cope with all the children. | stayed at St Joseph s Babies
'Home, Belfast, this is part of Nazareth Lodge based on the Ravenhill Road, Belfast. My ﬁrst memories of
life start from here. From lying in a cot for hours upon end, having no ‘one to speak to me or any love
shown to me. When | was about 3 years of age | was transferred to the main unit. | waspl‘aoed with
~SR29 M group. | would describe her as being a young nun in her thirties, thin, alvvays wearing a
- She had no dlstmgmshlng features. | slept on the first room at the top of the stairs and shared wuth
a girl called i}~ | think. She told me not to look at her and every night | had to face the wall so |
couldn't see her. | recall | was in the kitchen with a girl called (I think she was-something Iike
a care assistant) and | was very yodng at the time. | was placed on the kitohen work
bench and they both left the kitchen. | was near a kettle which was boiling. | heard the kettle ‘click’ to

signify |t had boiled. | then reached over to the kettle | I|fted |t up and poured it over my face and neck.

and found me. | don't know if | went to hospital or was treated at the home. |
was continually told by that | was evil. At nights when we were put to bed the doors were
locked so we were trapped If I needed to go to the toilet | just'wet myself. As punishment .for wetting the
bed | was slapped. | had a bed wettlng problem and got no help with it, | jUSt got contlnually slapped
around the head, face, back or any part of my body that could reach. | recall Sunday

dinners. | regularly told ISRV that | had finished my food. However, | was told that | had to eat

Signature of witness:

Signature witnessed by:
" (Appropriate Adult)

on

" OFFICIAL—SENSITIVE




File 234 -
PERSON INTERVIEWED:

Recording Number and
Recording Times:

18m 02

21m 20

23m 00

26m 00

27m 40

29.40

32,00

Form PACE 22
02/08

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE f SN B-61164

SR 29

not remember any of the Social Workers names. Discussion ébout feeding tﬁe chifdren,
states this would be the responsibility of the Sisters. | .

Discussion about the medical care. States that Doctors would be called into;f\!azareth if
needed but n6 allocated Doctor. Can't rerﬁember any of the Doctors names:;Which came lo

the home.

Q Does she recall seeing anyone being slapped in the home by a member of staff

A States she doesn't recall. States any contactﬂwou!d have been génﬂe, no pushing or
knocking or hurting them. . |

Q Does she recﬁﬂ any verbal abuse to the children

A Not in her unit but sometimes heard voices raised but didn't hear detail

Q Asked if she had ever assaufted any chifd

A Of course not

Discussion about the fayout of Nazareth and where she and her unit slept. ..Si?ates that at
night the doors to sleeping areas where shut but not locked. -
Discussion about Daily log books. States they were kept and when finished were gi'\)en to
Mother Superior. Visits out and visits made into Nazareth were recorded. ‘

States that children went out of the home to Foster parents and this would h%ve been -
ret;*orded by the Social Workers. Asked o remember the names of Foster pé}ents but can't .
recall. States that she was not aware of how the families m:/eré chosen.

She goses onfo state th;—:.'t she was aware of a boy that was abused whilst with Foster parents,
this wasEREECEEE States she was aware of this efﬁemards, whilst m England,
through police.

Asked about this family that had abused IS 2 finds it difficult to recall.

Discussion about the Pﬁests mentioned eariier in the inteni}'ew.

. v "
Solicitor — He Explains the Orders of Catholic Church and hierarchy.
Questioné asked about canning children, she stétes they didn’t have one and nor did she see

anyone use one. b

Page 2 of 4
RESTRICTED

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 89



File 234

RECORDING REF NO:

Master Copy
Seal Number(s):

‘Recording Number and
Recording Times:

3.30

426

5.04

Form PACE 22
02/08

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE
RESTRICTED
POLICE SERVICE OF NORTHERN IRELAND

' SNB-61167

Police Identification Marl_( GMCI6
SUMMARY OF AUDIO RECORDED INTERVIEW

PERSON‘INTERVI.EWED: ' SR 29 .

DOB:
PLACE OF INTERVIEW.

DATE OF INTERVIEW: 11/09/2012

TIME COMMENCED: 1451 HOURS.  TIME TERMINATED: 1515 HOURS
INTERVIEWING OFFICERS: OTHER PERSON(S) PRESENT:
1 CONSTABLE CHRIS HUTTON 1 FINTAN CANAVAN -
, DETECTIVE CONSTABLE GAIL ) .
 MCILWAINE
3 S 3
MADE BY: D/C Gail Mcllwaine

Reminded she is stilf under caution.

She is reminded of where the previous interview left off, which was the s'tatehjent of complaint

made b HIA 141

SR 29 states she remembers her because she was a beautiful child and that she

HIA 141

came from a big family, which were alf at Nézareth. She states she thinks was in her.

[}

unit. ] : : i

The Statement of :'s read to A

Questions are asked about the Incide.nt in the Kitchen. .
states she does nog‘ remember any such incr"dent. She also s%ates that she
does not know the civilian member of staff. : '
 Question asked if she éontinuaﬂy e HIA 141 [7PY she was evil. -
exclaimsk Never ‘repeatédly. ' -

Question asked about [JINTMbed wetting and the Iocking‘ iof doors. .
SRS (otcs that the doors to the dorms were never locked and that Ehere was a foilet

near by.
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SNB-80101

PRIVATE

HIA Ref: 363

HIA 363
Witness Name:

THE INQUIRY INTO HISTORICAL INSTITUTIONAL ABUSE 1922 TO 1995

WITNESS STATEMENT OF HIA 363

I, HIA 363 L will say as follows:

1. T have been shown a copy of my draft witness statement compiled by the Inquiry
team. I have not signed a copy of this witness statement as I am seeking legal
advice in relation to aspects of that statement and there are legal proceedings
ongoing in relation to that. This witness statement will therefore address the

allegations which have been suggested to relate to me that have been made by a

HIA 141

2. I have been shown a redacted copy of AIEWENN ctatement, and in particular her

description of an older girl called HIA

who had been helping her with her
363

homework hitting her.
3. This description does not include a surname, and no incident of this nature occurred
involving me. I do not remember a RSN - 1d do not believe I ever heard

of anyone of that name.

4. T do not know what date this was alleged to have happened, but I believe that.

SR29
left when I was around 8 or 9 years old.

HIA 363 PRIVATE
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